FEET, FOOTWEAR AND ARTHRITIS

An Information Booklet





CONTENTS

3	Introduction
3	Structure of the foot
334 5566789	 Specific foot problems Can osteoarthritis affect my feet? What effects can inflammatory arthritis have on my feet? What is gout? What causes problems in the ankles and heels? Plantar fasciitis Why do my arches ache or feel tired? What are bunions? What are hammer toes? What causes pain under the ball of the foot?
0 0 4 4 5 5	Treatment What can I do to help myself? What about complementary therapies? What if I cannot manage my feet myself? Can surgery help? Will injections help?

(continued)

Published by the Arthritis Research Campaign 2003

CONTENTS (continued)

15	Footwear
15	What sort of shoes should I buy?
17	What do I need to think about when I am buying shoes?
18	What can I do if I find it difficult to deal with fastenings on my shoes?
19	What can I do if I cannot buy shoes that are right for me?
19	Is it all right to wear slippers around the house?
20	My work means that I have to wear safety footwear: is this all right?
20	My feet are always cold: what can I do?
20	Glossary
24	Useful addresses

Introduction

If you have arthritis, and you also have problems in your feet, this booklet will help you to understand why some of these problems arise. It will explain how these problems can be treated, what you can do to help yourself, how to choose the best shoes for your feet, and where to go for help when you need it. At the back of the booklet there is a brief glossary of medical words (such as *osteoarthritis*). We have put these in italics when they are first used in the booklet.

Structure of the foot

The foot is a complex structure. It contains 26 bones, more than 30 small joints, and more than 100 muscles, *tendons, ligaments*, nerves and blood vessels. These must all work together so that your foot can do all that you need it to. Most people take a million or so steps per year, so the foot has a lot to do.

While babies' feet generally all look similar, adults' feet change over time with constant use. Most feet have a moderate arch which spreads the weight of the body evenly over many bones and joints. Some people have feet with a lower arch (known as *pes planus*), which means the foot tends to be more flexible. Other people have higher arches (*pes cavus*), which means the foot tends to be less flexible (see Figure 1). Higher or lower arches are not necessarily a problem, but may increase your chances of developing other problems such as *hammer toes*, *bunions*, or *corns* and *calluses*.

Specific foot problems

Can osteoarthritis affect my feet?

The big toe joint is the site most commonly affected by *osteoarthritis*, but any of the joints in your feet can



be affected. Many people notice changes in the arch structure of their feet as they get older, and mild arthritis in the arch area is common. Osteoarthritis is less common in the ankle, but can occur if there has been an earlier injury or as a result of long-standing inflammatory arthritis (see below).

What effects can inflammatory arthritis have on my feet?

The term 'inflammatory arthritis' encompasses rheumatoid arthritis (RA), reactive arthritis (Reiter's syndrome), psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis (see 'Glossary' for more detail). The effect on the feet depends on exactly which type of arthritis you have. Rheumatoid arthritis, for instance, tends to affect many of the foot joints, while reactive arthritis usually affects only the ankle. The effects of inflammatory arthritis on each of the main parts of the foot are covered later. People with inflammatory arthritis can also have inflammation and discomfort in the tendons and the other 'soft tissue' structures in the feet. The part under the heel where the tendons attach to the heel bone is quite often affected in this way (see the section 'What causes problems in the ankles and heels?'). There are separate arc booklets on each type of inflammatory arthritis mentioned above.

What is gout?

Gout is a particular type of arthritis caused by the formation of crystals in a joint. Gout often occurs in the foot, and the big toe joint is the most common site in the body. Gout causes a lot of inflammation, and the joint can be painful, red and hot while an attack lasts (typically 1-2 weeks) (see Figure 2). Without treatment, the attacks may return and damage to the joint will accumulate, eventually leading to permanent damage and osteoarthritis. Gout is usually controlled well with modern medications. (See **arc** booklet 'Gout'.)



What causes problems in the ankles and heels?

Pain in the ankles and heels can arise either from the joints themselves (where bones meet) or from the structures around the joint such as muscles and tendons. The joints can be affected by osteoarthritis or by inflammatory arthritis such as RA or reactive arthritis. Osteoarthritis is fairly uncommon in the ankle, unless there has been previous damage from an injury, or damage from longstanding inflammatory arthritis.

When inflammatory arthritis affects the ankle, the joint may be especially sore or stiff when you first get out of bed in the morning, or after sitting for a while. With this type of arthritis the heel may drift outwards (see Figure 3). This so-called *valgus heel* is a common feature of RA. It may not cause problems if it does not drift too far, but it can be bothersome if the arch also flattens as a result. Research funded by **arc** has shown that early treatment may slow the development of a valgus heel in people with RA. Supporting shoes and/or orthoses (see *orthosis*) may help. A valgus heel can also be corrected with surgery.



Plantar fasciitis

The most common cause of discomfort around the heel is inflammation in the ligaments that attach under the heel bone. You may hear this problem called *plantar fasciitis*, or perhaps *enthesopathy*. It used to be known as 'policeman's heel'. This is common with inflammatory arthritis, but can also occur in people without arthritis. If you can lose weight, this may help to ease symptoms in the heel. Treatment with a *local steroid injection*, and changes to footwear or insoles, may also help.

Why do my arches ache or feel tired?

The arches of the feet form a mechanism similar to the arch of a bridge, allowing the weight of the body to be spread over many bones and joints. The arch structure can change with arthritis, and the structures nearby can be strained. In mild cases this feels like tiredness in the arch area, but pain and discomfort may develop if the muscles or tendons are very overworked. Losing some weight can help a lot, although this can be difficult to do if your feet hurt, because exercise becomes more difficult. Swimming is a good alternative form of exercise which you may be able to do instead of walking or other 'weight-bearing' exercises. If you have pain in the arches then *non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)*, taken as tablets, or a local steroid injection may help. Some people also find arch supports or orthoses (functional orthoses) helpful for arch pain or tiredness.



What are bunions?

Bunions are bony lumps that develop on the side of the foot at the base of the big toe. The big toe joint becomes stiff, and its range of movement is reduced. A fluid-filled sac under the skin (a *bursa*) may develop here too, especially if shoes press against the bunion. The bursa may become inflamed and painful. Sometimes, as the bunion develops, the big toe may be pushed over towards the smaller toes (this condition is known as *hallux valgus*). This can cause the other toes to become clawed, a condition known as hammer toes (see below). In RA a bunion combined with clawing of the toes is common (see Figure 5). If a bunion forms, the symptoms can be controlled. Choosing shoes with a soft upper will reduce pressure and rubbing on the bunion joint. If the bunion or the bursa does flare up then 'bunion pads' can be bought from the chemist. However, these should only be used on the advice of a state-registered *podiatrist/chiropodist*. If the joint is continually painful over a long period of time, surgery may be needed.



What are hammer toes?

Hammer toes (also known as claw toes, mallet toes or retracted toes) occur when the toes are permanently bent (see Figure 5). Hammer toes happen either because of problems with the tendons inside the foot, or because the toes are squashed by poorly fitting shoes and/or socks. Hammer toes are most common in feet with bunions, and in high-arched feet (pes cavus). The most common cause of discomfort from hammer toes is a build-up of hard skin over the raised-up joints. There is a risk of developing ulceration but this is uncommon.

The only way to correct hammer toes is with surgery, although splints made of rubber, leather or silicone may help control mild cases. Any pain from corns and calluses may be eased by choosing shoes of a more generous fit, or with uppers made from soft materials. A protective pad over the area may also reduce the symptoms.

What causes pain under the ball of the foot?

Pain can be caused by arthritis actually *in* the joints of the ball of the foot, especially if you already have arthritis elsewhere in your body. However most pain under the ball of the foot comes from minor damage to the soft tissues – the tendons, bursae, fat pads, nerves and skin.

Bursae are often found under the ball of the foot in people with RA (see Figure 6). They also occur next to large bunions. The amount of fluid within the bursae can change and they grow and shrink as the amount of inflammation in the area varies. Treatment for the inflamed bursa starts with reducing pressure on the area.



One type of nerve problem arising in the forefoot is called a *neuroma*. This is a thickening of the nerve, caused by rubbing against other internal tissues. This is most common at the base of the toes. The symptoms of a neuroma are pain or tingling in the toes. However, most neuromas cause little trouble and should settle once more roomy footwear is found. It has been suggested that special insoles and pads under the area can help, and these may be available through a stateregistered podiatrist/chiropodist. Sometimes a local steroid injection is recommended. If symptoms become severe, surgical removal of the thickened nerve may be needed.

In people with RA, rheumatoid *nodules* (firm, pea-sized lumps) can occur at sites of pressure such as the big toe joints, the back of the heels, or on the toes. Nodules occurring on the soles of the feet can be particularly uncomfortable. Padding can ease discomfort by cushioning the lumps. In some cases, surgical removal of the nodules may be needed.

The most common cause of discomfort under the ball of the foot is a build-up of hard skin (called callus) and/or corns. Callus forms at areas of high pressure or friction. If pressures are extremely high, small areas of skin within the callused area produce an abnormal type of skin tissue leading to the formation of a corn. Discomfort from corns or calluses can be relieved by scraping away the excess skin with a pumice stone or an abrasive board (but *never* with an open blade). You should not do this yourself without advice from a state-registered podiatrist/ chiropodist – if the tissue is weak in that area you may do more harm than good. Bear in mind also that the callus will grow back in 4–6 weeks unless the pressure or friction which caused it is removed by changing to softer or roomier footwear, or pads added inside the shoes.

Treatment

What can I do to help myself?

If you are overweight, losing some weight can help ease the pressure on painful feet. Exercise is important in keeping joints moving, and the rest of the body healthy, but it may be necessary to change the type of exercise you take if your feet hurt. For example, swimming



might be an alternative. If your ankles feel stiff in the morning, allowing some time for the joints to 'loosen up' will usually help. During the day, alternating sitting and standing activities helps to take the pressure off the feet.

You can do a lot to help keep your feet in good shape. If you are fairly healthy and your skin is in good condition then you may be able to manage your feet quite well without any help. For some people with arthritis, the disease itself, the medications they take or other (sometimes unrelated) problems mean that they may need to be more careful. If you are worried about the state of your skin, please ask your doctor or a stateregistered podiatrist/chiropodist for a check-up. A basic foot-care kit you can use yourself is shown in Figure 8.



Here are some tips to help you keep your feet in good shape:

- Wash your feet every day in warm soapy water and dry them thoroughly, especially between the toes. A cotton wool bud gently inserted between toes may help with this.
- If the skin between the toes gets white and soggylooking, applying surgical spirit with a cotton wool bud will help. Never apply surgical spirit if the skin is cracked or sore – wait a few days for the cracks to close.
- Check your feet every day for any problems. You can use a mirror if you have trouble getting down to see. Minor cuts, abrasions or blisters should be covered with a clean dressing and kept dry. If they do not heal within 2–3 days then seek professional treatment.
- If your skin is dry, you can apply moisturising cream. Don't apply cream between your toes, though, as it tends to make the skin there soggy. If you have difficulty bending down, use the top of one foot to massage cream into the sole of the other.

- Nails should be trimmed every 6–8 weeks. Cutting the nails straight across and using an emery board to file down the sharp edges reduces the chance of 'ingrowing toenails'. You may find it easier to cut your nails after you have a bath when the nails are softer. Long-handled nail clippers are often easier to use than scissors. People on some medications (such as steroids), and people who heal slowly or have had problems with ulcers or *vasculitis* in the past, should seek professional advice first.
- If you have corns and calluses, you may be able to use an emery board or pumice stone to keep them under control. You should never use an open blade such as a scalpel or razor blade. Special skin files and scrapers may be suitable as long as you and your skin are in good health. Check with your doctor or a stateregistered podiatrist/chiropodist first, especially if you have vasculitis or any history of skin ulcers. Over-thecounter creams and medicated corn plasters are not recommended generally, and people with vasculitis or people who heal slowly should avoid these treatments altogether.
- Socks or stockings should be changed every day, and it is not good to wear the same shoes for more than 2 days in a row. Damp shoes are ideal conditions for growing bacteria and fungi. It takes a day or so for the shoes to completely dry out after they were last worn.
- Athlete's foot is an infection of the skin caused by a fungus. It is quite common in people with hammer toes because the warm, damp area between the toes is an ideal environment for the fungus to grow. Athlete's foot causes itching, and sometimes a speckled red rash on the skin. The athlete's foot may disappear on its own if you are very thorough with washing and drying your feet, but a cream or powder from the chemist will speed things along.

What about complementary therapies?

Many herbal and complementary preparations and devices are available and some people find these helpful. However, the effectiveness of treatments such as acupressure sandals and magnetic insoles is not supported by medical evidence. Therapeutic massage can be helpful in reducing pain or tiredness in the feet. Massage can be combined with a relaxing warmwater footbath, and either of these is fine as long as you don't have any open wounds or sores on your feet. For general information on this subject, see the **arc** booklet 'Complementary Therapies and Arthritis'.

What if I cannot manage my feet myself?

If you cannot manage yourself then a number of people may be able to help.

Your GP or hospital consultant can refer you for professional care within the NHS. Private options are also available. Note that the availability and waiting times for these services will vary.

For many foot problems your first contact should be with a state-registered podiatrist/chiropodist. S/he will help with troublesome nails, corns and calluses, and will also be able to provide advice and help with obtaining special shoes or orthoses. Most podiatry services accept patients on a self-referral basis without seeing a GP first.

Other professionals who can be of help include physiotherapists and occupational therapists, who may have treatments or exercises to ease symptoms and keep you moving. *Orthotists* can also help in giving advice and are specialists in providing better-fitting shoes and insoles.

If you need surgery to improve the structure of your feet, you would normally be referred to an orthopaedic

surgeon. Many NHS trusts now have an orthopaedic surgeon who specialises in foot surgery. Some stateregistered podiatrists/chiropodists are also able to perform minor surgery.

All of these services can be coordinated by your GP or rheumatology specialist.

Can surgery help?

Joint replacements for the ankle and foot are not yet as successful as replacement knees and hips. Most foot surgery is aimed at correcting the positions of the joints by resetting the bones or fusing the joint in the corrected position.

If you are considering surgery, do discuss all of the available options with the surgeon before deciding whether to go ahead.

Will injections help?

If just one or two joints are inflamed and painful, a steroid injection may be recommended and given by the doctor, usually under a local anaesthetic. You will have to rest for up to 48 hours after the injection. A steroid injection may also be useful for inflamed tendons (*tendinitis*), neuromas and inflamed bursae.

Footwear

What sort of shoes should I buy?

Comfort is the best pointer to the suitability of a shoe for you. If the footwear protects your feet against injuries and keeps them warm, dry and comfortable, then it is doing its job. Figure 9 shows the main parts of a shoe and mentions some points to consider when choosing a shoe.



Figure 9. The main parts of a shoe

What do I need to think about when I am buying shoes?

- Have your feet measured if they have become wider over the years, or have changed shape because of arthritis. Your feet may change shape when you stand up, so have them measured while standing.
- Try shopping for shoes later in the afternoon. If your feet tend to swell, this will be when they are at their largest.
- Size varies between shoe brands and style. Judge a shoe by how it feels on your foot and not just by the size marked on the shoe. Think about how the shoe fits around your toes, under the soles, and at the back of the heels.
- Many people have one foot bigger than the other. Always buy your shoes to fit the larger foot (an insole can be used in the other shoe). There should be at least 1 cm (³/₈ inch) of room at the front of the longest toe.
- Try shoes on with the type of socks or stockings you normally wear, or with any insoles or orthoses you normally wear with them. Some insoles may need extra depth, especially in the toe area.
- The right shoes for you will be comfortable when you first try them on. Buying shoes to 'break in' later is not a good idea.
- Soles should be light, hard-wearing and flexible. The sole should be able to bend along an imaginary line drawn from the base of the big toe to the base of the little toe.
- Leather uppers are usually the most comfortable if you have foot problems. If you can, try to get shoes which also have leather inners (the inner lining). These are more breathable than inners made of synthetic materials and will help avoid dampness and fungal infections.

• If you are worried about the appearance of your feet, dark colours and a suede finish will help to disguise the problem.

What can I do if I find it difficult to deal with fastenings on my shoes?

Lace-up shoes can be difficult to fasten if you have arthritis in your hands. Elastic laces can be easier to use because one pull ensures a snug fit. They do not need to be tied again. Many shoes are now available with Velcro fastenings, which can be fastened and adjusted using only one hand. A zip fastening can be easier to manage than laces or buckles, and a ring (such as a key-ring) added onto the zip pull can make it easier to pull up. Some shoes in different styles with a variety of different fastenings are shown in Figure 10.

There are also a number of devices currently available to help people with putting on socks, tights/stockings and shoes. Useful leaflets on this and other subjects related to the feet and footwear are available from the Disabled Living Foundation (see 'Useful addresses').



What can I do if I cannot buy shoes that are right for me?

Some people may have feet that just cannot be fitted into shoes which are available on the high street. People with permanently swollen feet, very narrow, long, or very broad feet, or with hammer toes or bunions may find it difficult to find shoes that fit well. A number of retailers are beginning to stock shoes with extra width and depth, which can help. The British Footwear Association provides a list of stockists of 'hard-to-find' footwear (see 'Useful addresses'). It may be possible to have 'high-street' footwear adapted by an orthotist – ask your orthotist for advice.

Some people may have footwear prescribed especially for them by their consultant or GP, or by a state-registered podiatrist/chiropodist or orthotist. The shoes are usually provided by an orthotist. You can also opt to see an orthotist or orthopaedic shoemaker privately. Each NHS hospital trust will have its own arrangements for footwear referral and entitlements.

Is it all right to wear slippers around the house?

Many people prefer to wear slippers in the house rather than shoes. However, slippers are not a good idea for those who have to wear special insoles. Slippers also sometimes cause falls in the elderly. The uppers of slippers are often soft and so are comfortable for hammer toes and prominent joints, but the soles can lack adequate cushioning. Like outdoor shoes, slippers should fit properly and should not be too loose. Backless slippers and slippers with a high heel really should be avoided. The features of the ideal slipper are generally the same as for the ideal shoe.

My work means I have to wear safety footwear: is this all right?

If you need to wear safety boots for work, they should display the British Kitemark sign. If your existing safety footwear is uncomfortable (maybe the soles are too hard or the toes not roomy enough), you may need to talk to your employer about getting alternative shoes. Safety versions of extra-depth and cushioned shoes are available.

My feet are always cold: what can I do?

Many slippers, shoes and boots are available with linings such as sheepskin or synthetic fur to help keep the feet warm. Wearing thicker socks or two pairs (as long as they are not too tight) not only helps to keep the feet warm but also provides extra cushioning under the soles of the feet. Keeping the feet warm will also be easier if you keep the rest of your body warm.

The Raynaud's & Scleroderma Association produces a leaflet containing tips for keeping warm – see 'Useful addresses'.

Glossary

Ankylosing spondylitis – an inflammatory arthritis affecting mainly the joints in the back. It can be associated with inflammation in tendons and ligaments.

Bunion – a bony lump at the base of the big toe, often with a bursa over the top. When the big toe becomes bent over towards the smaller toes the condition is known as hallux valgus.

Bursa (plural: bursae) – a protective sac of fluid over a joint. Bursae start off with only a thin layer of lubricating fluid inside. When inflamed, the fluid builds up in the sac, causing swelling and pain.

Callus – hard skin arising because of high pressure or friction damaging an area of skin. When not too thick callus protects the skin from further damage. When thick or dry the callus becomes painful.

Chiropodist – see podiatrist.

Corns – regions of hard skin in which a hard 'nucleus' has formed. The nucleus (often wrongly referred to as a 'root') presses on the healthy skin underneath the corn causing pain. Corns arise in areas of pressure and are *not* caused by an infection.

Enthesopathy – pain or discomfort at the point where a tendon or ligament inserts into a bone (the enthesis).

Gout – an inflammatory arthritis caused by a reaction to the formation of crystals in the joint. Gout comes and goes in severe flare-ups at first, but if not treated it can eventually lead to joint damage.

Hallux valgus – a condition in which the big toe pushes across towards the other toes. It is often used interchangeably with the term 'bunion', although in fact a bunion can exist without hallux valgus.

Hammer toes – toes that have contracted into a clawed position. At first only the tendons are tight and the toes can still be straightened by hand. Over time the joints fix in the contracted position. Hammer toes are sometimes known as claw, mallet or retracted toes.

Ligament – a tough fibrous band joining two bones.

Local steroid injection – the injection of steroid directly into a problematic joint or next to an affected tendon. Sometimes medical staff will refer to an injection into the joint as 'intra-articular', and you may hear the term 'IAST' used, meaning intra-articular steroid therapy.

Neuroma – a fibrous thickening of a nerve caused by reaction to long-standing irritation.

Nodule (rheumatoid nodule) – firm nodules arising under the skin in areas of high pressure. They are most common on the elbows. They are not as common on the feet but do tend to be troublesome when they develop there.

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) – these drugs are the mainstay of controlling pain and inflammation in arthritis. Typical drugs of this type are aspirin, ibuprofen, indomethacin and celecoxib.

Orthosis (plural: orthoses) – a device to help part of the body to work better. An orthosis is used to provide support or to affect the mechanical function of a joint, in this case the foot or ankle. Most foot orthoses are insoles worn inside the shoe. They may range from very rigid to soft depending on their purpose. Orthoses are also referred to as 'functional orthoses'. They are sometimes (wrongly) called orthotics.

Orthotist – a trained specialist who prescribes and fits special shoes and orthoses.

Osteoarthritis – the most common type of arthritis. In osteoarthritis the joint becomes increasingly damaged but without severe inflammation. It often develops after damage to a joint.

Pes cavus - high-arched, rigid feet.

Pes planus – low-arched, usually flexible feet ('flat feet').

Plantar fasciitis – under the foot is a broad band of tough fibres that runs from the heel to the base of the toes. This band is called the 'plantar fascia'. Where the plantar fascia is strained, the pain in the arch is called plantar fasciitis. This term is often wrongly applied to any type of pain in the arch.

Podiatrist – a trained foot specialist. The terms 'podiatrist' and 'chiropodist' mean the same thing, although 'podiatrist' tends to be preferred by the profession. NHS podiatrists and chiropodists are state-registered, having done a 3-year university-based training programme. The podiatrist or chiropodist can deal with many of the foot problems caused by arthritis.

Psoriatic arthritis – an inflammatory arthritis linked to the skin condition psoriasis.

Reactive arthritis (Reiter's syndrome) – a specific type of inflammatory arthritis that usually occurs after a mild infection.

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) – the most common type of inflammatory arthritis. RA can affect particularly the feet and hands.

Soft tissues – all the tissues of the body that are not bone or cartilage. We usually use the term to group together the muscles, tendons, ligaments, nerves and blood vessels that can be affected by some types of arthritis.

Tendinitis – inflammation in a tendon or tendon sheath. It is more usual for the inflammation to be in the tendon sheath than in the tendon itself.

Tendon – a fibrous band joining muscles to bones (they are usually surrounded by a 'sheath' of tissue, rich in blood). When inflammation occurs it is called tendinitis.

Valgus heel – where the heel topples so that the ankles move towards each other and the heel drifts outwards. Quite common in RA.

Vasculitis – inflammation affecting the walls of blood vessels. Vasculitis is sometimes (but infrequently) seen in people with inflammatory arthritis. Vasculitis in the skin of the feet may lead to open sores and should always

be treated by a health professional. (See **arc** booklet 'Vasculitis'.)

Useful addresses

The Arthritis Research Campaign (arc)

PO Box 177 Chesterfield Derbyshire S41 7TQ Phone: 0870 850 5000 www.arc.org.uk

As well as funding research, we produce a range of free information booklets and leaflets. Please see the list of titles at the back of this booklet.

Arthritis Care

18 Stephenson Way London NW1 2HD Phone: 020 7380 6500 Helplines: 020 7380 6555 (10am–4pm Mon–Fri) or freephone: 0808 800 4050 (12pm–4pm Mon–Fri) www.arthritiscare.org.uk

Offers self-help support, a helpline service (on both numbers above), and a range of leaflets on arthritis.

British Footwear Association (BFA)

3 Burystead Place Wellingborough Northants NN8 1AH Phone: 01933 229005 www.britfoot.com

Produces the directory 'Hard-to-Find Footwear' listing more than 100 sources for hard-to-find footwear. Please send a cheque/postal order for £3.00 payable to 'British Footwear Association' for the printed version, or view the directory on the website.

Disabled Living Foundation (DLF)

380–384 Harrow Road London W9 2HU Phone: 020 7289 6111 Helpline: 0845 130 9177 (10am–1pm Mon–Fri) www.dlf.org.uk

Produces a range of fact sheets on foot problems and special footwear. Please contact the DLF for prices, or view the fact sheets on the website.

Raynaud's & Scleroderma Association

112 Crewe Road Alsager, Cheshire ST7 2JA Phone: 01270 872776 www.raynauds.demon.co.uk

Produces the leaflet 'Percy's Hot Tips on Keeping Warm' giving advice and tips on how to keep warm. Please send a 23 x 10 cm (9 x 4 inch) stamped addressed envelope (1st class stamp) with your request.

The Society of Chiropodists & Podiatrists (SCP)

1 Fellmonger's Path Tower Bridge Road London SE1 3LY Phone: 020 7234 8620 www.feetforlife.org

Represents state-registered chiropodists and podiatrists.

Booklets and leaflets

These free booklets and leaflets are available from **arc**. To get copies, please send for our order form (stock code 6204) or write to: **arc** Trading Ltd, lames Nicolson Link, Clifton Moor, York YO30 4XX **for up to THREE titles.**

DISEASES

Ankylosing Spondylitis Antiphospholipid Syndrome Behçet's Syndrome Carpal Tunnel Syndrome Fibromyalgia Gout Introducing Arthritis Lupus (SLE) Osteoarthritis Osteoarthritis of the Knee Osteomalacia (Soft Bones) Osteoporosis Paget's Disease of Bone Polymyalgia Rheumatica (PMR) Polymyositis and Dermatomyositis Pseudogout **Psoriatic Arthritis** Raynaud's Phenomenon **Reactive Arthritis** Reflex Sympathetic Dystrophy Rheumatoid Arthritis Scleroderma Sjögren's Syndrome Vasculitis

JUVENILE ARTHRITIS

Arthritis in Teenagers Growing Pains (for children) Tim Has Arthritis (for children) When a Young Person Has Arthritis (for schoolteachers) When Your Child Has Arthritis

TREATMENT

Blood Tests and X-Rays for Arthritis Complementary Therapies Hand and Wrist Surgery Hydrotherapy and Arthritis Occupational Therapy and Arthritis Pain and Arthritis Physiotherapy and Arthritis Your Rheumatology Department

SUMMARY

A summary leaflet listing the main topics covered by all the others shown here

PARTS OF THE BODY

Back Pain Feet, Footwear and Arthritis Joint Hypermobility Knee Pain in Young Adults A New Hip Joint A New Knee Joint Pain in the Neck The Painful Shoulder Shoulder and Elbow Joint Replacement Tennis Elbow

LIFESTYLE

Are You Sitting Comfortably? Caring for a Person with Arthritis Diet and Arthritis Driving and Your Arthritis Gardening and Arthritis Keep Moving Looking After Your Joints (RA) Pregnancy and Arthritis Sexuality and Arthritis Sports Injuries Stairlifts and Homelifts Work and Arthritis Work-Related Rheumatic Complaints Your Home and Arthritis

DRUG INFORMATION

Drugs and Arthritis (general info.) Anakinra Azathioprine Cyclophosphamide Cyclosporin Etanercept Gold by Intramuscular Injection Hydroxychloroguine Infliximab Leflunomide Local Steroid Injections Methotrexate Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Penicillamine Steroid Tablets Sulphasalazine

Arthritis Research Campaign



The Arthritis Research Campaign (**arc**) is the only major UK charity funding research in universities, hospitals and medical schools to investigate the cause and cure of arthritis and other rheumatic diseases. We also produce a comprehensive range of over 80 free information booklets and leaflets covering different types of arthritis and offering practical advice to help in everyday life.

arc receives no government or NHS grants and relies entirely on its own fundraising efforts and the generosity of the public to support its research and education programmes.

Arthritis Today is the quarterly magazine of **arc**. This will keep you informed of the latest treatments and self-help techniques, with articles on research, human interest stories and fundraising news. If you would like to find out how you can receive this magazine regularly, please write to: Arthritis Research Campaign, Ref AT, PO Box 177, Chesterfield S41 7TQ.

Please add any comments on how this booklet could be improved.

Feedback is very valuable to **arc**. However, due to the volume of correspondence received, we regret that we cannot respond to individual enquiries made on this form.

Please return this form to: Arthritis Research Campaign, PO Box 177, Chesterfield S41 7TQ

The Arthritis Research Campaign was formerly known as the Arthritis and Rheumatism Council for Research. Registered Charity No. 207711.

A team of people contributed to this booklet. The original text was written by allied health professionals with expertise in the subject. It was assessed at draft stage by doctors, allied health professionals, an education specialist and people with arthritis. A non-medical editor rewrote the text to make it easy to understand and an **arc** medical editor is responsible for the content overall.

This booklet has been printed with the help of a generous donation from





Arthritis Research Campaign Copeman House, St Mary's Court, St Mary's Gate Chesterfield, Derbyshire S41 7TD

Registered Charity No. 207711